RECEIVED
THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

MAY 25 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master In Equity

Case No. 2014-CP-07-2779

Appellate Case No. 2015-002363

Mary Beth Marzulli, Respondent,

v.

Tenet South Carolina, Inc., Hilton Head Health System,
LP d/b/a/ Hilton Head Regional Medical Center, and
Tenet Physician Services-Hilton Head, Inc.,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough, LLP
A. Mattison Bogan
Sue Erwin Harper
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 799-2000

Attorneys for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. When the parties' contract stated that "arbitration will be conducted under the Federal Arbitration Act," was it error for the trial court to rule that the Federal Arbitration Act did not apply to that agreement?

II. Was it error for the trial court to focus solely on the individual employment contract and not to take a broader view of the involvement of interstate commerce, in the aggregate, in the transaction underlying the contract, *i.e.*, a national company's employment of Respondent and others in the healthcare field nationwide?

III. Because an agreement to arbitrate "all claims . . . related . . . to my employment" is construed broadly to include all claims that "touch matters relating to employment," was it error for the trial court to rule that the defamation claim, based upon Appellants' allegedly untrue police report that Respondent had touched a minor female patient inappropriately, was not arbitrable because it was not "related" to Respondent's employment or its termination?

IV. Because an agreement to arbitrate "all claims . . . related . . . to my employment" is construed broadly to include all claims that "touch matters relating to employment," was it error for the trial court to rule that the defamation claim, based upon Appellants' allegedly untrue police report that Respondent had touched a minor female patient inappropriately, was not arbitrable because it was an intentional tort not "contemplated" by the arbitration agreement?

V. Was it error for the trial court to rule that the arbitration agreement was revocable and unenforceable under South Carolina law because it was unconscionable and because it was not supported by consideration?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a defamation suit brought against Appellants Hilton Head Regional Medical Center and its present or former affiliates¹ (hereafter “Hospital”) by Respondent, a pediatric physical therapist formerly employed at the Hospital. Early in her employment, Respondent signed a document agreeing to submit to arbitration “any and all claims and disputes that are related in any way to my employment or the termination of my employment” (hereafter “Contract”). (Affidavit of Darlene Nester (“Nester Aff.”), Ex. A – Acknowledgement, R. p. 48.)

After the father of a 9-year-old patient complained that his daughter said Respondent touched her inappropriately during one of their therapy sessions, the Hospital reported this complaint to the Beaufort County Sheriff’s Department. (Affidavit of Beth Gasiorowski (“Gasiorowski Aff.”) ¶¶ 4-5, R. p. 35.) The Hospital suspended Respondent pending investigation. (Gasiorowski Aff. ¶ 8, R. p. 35.) When the Sheriff’s investigation concluded with no criminal charge being made against Respondent, the Hospital offered her reinstatement. (Nester Aff. ¶ 13, R. p. 46.) She declined that offer and resigned. (Affidavit of Ruth Hyde (“Hyde Aff.”) ¶ 12, R. p. 39; Nester Aff. ¶ 13, R. p. 46.) On October 30, 2014, Respondent filed this suit for defamation based on the Hospital’s

¹ Three Appellants are named in the Complaint: (1) Tenet South Carolina, Inc., (2) Hilton Head Health System, L.P., d/b/a Hilton Head Regional Medical Center, and (3) Tenet Physician Services-Hilton Head, Inc. Hilton Head Regional Medical Center, Respondent’s employer, is owned and operated by Hilton Head Health System, L.P. Healthcare Network South Carolina, Inc., formerly known as Tenet South Carolina, Inc., is the managing partner of Hilton Head Health System, L.P. The Complaint does not explain why Tenet South Carolina, Inc. and Tenet Physician Services-Hilton Head, Inc. are named. Appellants have expressly not waived their right to contest the status of any entity other than Hilton Head Health System, L.P. as a proper party.

reporting the father's complaint to law enforcement and the manner in which she said she was treated after her suspension. (Compl., R. pp. 12-19.)

Based upon the Contract, Appellants responded to the Complaint by filing a Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Dismiss or Stay, supported by the affidavits of Beth Gasiorowski, Ruth Hyde, Darlene Nester, and Anita Propst, including exhibits. (Mot. to Compel, R. pp. 28-33; Gasiorowski Aff., R. pp. 34-36; Hyde Aff., R. pp. 37-43; Nester Aff., R. pp. 44-67; Affidavit of Anita Propst ("Propst Aff."), R. pp. 68-71.) In response, Respondent filed her affidavit and a Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Compel Arbitration in which she argued that the Federal Arbitration Act did not apply, that application of the South Carolina Arbitration Act was not asserted, that the tort of defamation was not contemplated by the arbitration agreement, and that the arbitration agreement was unconscionable and therefore unenforceable. (Mem. Opp'n Mot. to Compel, R. pp. 72-79; Mem. Opp'n, Ex. A, Affidavit of Mary Beth Marzulli ("Marzulli Aff."), R. pp. 80-86.)

Appellants filed a Memorandum in Support of Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Dismiss or Stay (Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Compel, R. pp. 101-19), with supporting affidavits as previously filed (Gasiorowski Aff., R. pp. 34-36; Hyde Aff., R. pp. 37-39; Nester Aff., R. pp. 44-46; Propst Aff., R. pp. 68-71) in which they stated that South Carolina and federal courts had previously held an employee's tort claims against his employer were arbitrable when the parties' agreed to a broad arbitration agreement, noting that the Court of Appeals in 2012 (*Pearson*), and the Supreme Court in 2013 (*Landers*), had both held defamation claims were arbitrable. (Mem. Supp., R. pp. 101-19.) Appellants also argued that enforcement of an arbitration agreement under the FAA

was not discretionary, and that numerous courts had found Tenet's Acknowledgement to be enforceable and governed by the FAA. (Mem. Supp. & Tab 7 – Chart of Cases Compelling Arbitration Pursuant to Tenet's Employee Acknowledgment Form and Fair Treatment Process, including attached cases, R. pp. 116, 146-279.)

The trial court heard argument on Appellants' motion in two segments: the first was on April 15, 2015; that hearing was suspended and later re-convened by telephone on April 30, 2015. The only transcript is from the first part of the hearing. (Transcript of April 15, 2015 Hearing before Judge Marvin Dukes, III ("Transcript"), R. pp. 351-410.)

Respondent filed a Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Compel Arbitration, supported by a second affidavit of Respondent and exhibits, in which she made additional arguments: based upon *Flexon*,² that the arbitration agreement did not require performance of anything related to interstate commerce thus the FAA did not apply, and that the Contract was not enforceable because it lacked consideration, it was forced upon her after she had moved to South Carolina, and it contained oppressive and one-sided terms. (Supp. Mem. in Opp'n to Mot. to Compel, R. pp. 288-95; Supp. Mem. in Opp'n, Ex. I – Bank Statement Showing Direct Deposit (Nov. 4, 2011), R. p. 300.)

Appellants filed a Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Dismiss or Stay, supported by a second affidavit of Darlene Nester and the affidavits of Cassie Ball, Ruth Hyde Pelletier (second affidavit), Mary Alice Meyer, and John Ross, including exhibits. (Supp. Mem. in Support of Mot. to Compel, R. pp.

² *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 399 S.C. 83, 731 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2012) ("*Flexon I*"); see also *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.* 413 S.C. 561, 776 S.E.2d 397 (Ct. App. 2015) ("*Flexon II*") (collectively "*Flexon*").

302-14; Second Affidavit of Darlene Nester (“Second Nester Aff.”), R. pp. 280-84; Affidavit of Cassie Ball (“Ball Aff.”), R. pp. 315-17; Affidavit of Ruth Hyde Pelletier (“Hyde Pelletier Aff.”), R. pp. 318-21; Affidavit of MaryAlice Meyer (“Meyer Aff.”), R. pp. 322-24; Affidavit of John Ross (“Ross Aff.”), R. pp. 325-27.) Appellants argued the FAA applied because the arbitration clause was “a written provision” to arbitrate in a “contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce” as this statutory language of the FAA has been interpreted, and that the healthcare industry in which Respondent worked involves interstate commerce because it is an activity that is subject to federal control under the Commerce Clause; in the supporting affidavits, Appellants provided evidence of a number of instances in which interstate commerce was involved in the healthcare business of the Hospital and the work Respondent did there, including evidence that she had attended at least one continuing education program outside of South Carolina for which the Hospital had reimbursed her. (Meyer Aff., R. pp. 322-24; Ball Aff., R. p. 315-17; Hyde Pelletier Aff., R. p. 318-21.)

Respondent filed a Second Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Compel Arbitration, arguing that the FAA did not apply to the arbitration agreement because it was signed in South Carolina after she established her residency here. (Second Supp. Mem. in Opp’n to Mot. to Compel, R. pp. 328-29.) Although she admitted that “other employees at the hospital might have been involved in interstate commerce,” Respondent stated her work had been performed exclusively in South Carolina. She reiterated her claim that the agreement to arbitrate was unconscionable, inequitable, oppressive, one-sided, coerced, and inconspicuous, that the Hospital had misled her about

its contents, and that the damages she was seeking in the suit were unrelated to her employment. (*Id.*, R. pp. 330-31.)

Appellants filed a Response to Plaintiff's Second Supplemental Memorandum Opposing Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Dismiss or Stay. (Resp. to Second Supp. Mem. Opp'n Mot. to Compel, R. pp. 333-43.) Appellants argued that Respondent had failed to carry her burden of proving unconscionability and that *Flexon* was distinguishable on the grounds that the parties' agreement in that case expressly provided that South Carolina law applied and venue would be in the South Carolina courts, and that the trial court had ruled in *Flexon* that the party that bore the burden of showing the FAA applied had not provided sufficient evidence of interstate commerce involvement. (*Id.*, R. 333.)

On May 11, 2015, Respondent filed her third affidavit, stating that the out-of-state continuing education program she had attended was not required for her job and the Hospital did not reimburse her for the cost of the program until after her employment ended. (Third Affidavit of Mary Beth Marzulli ("Third Marzulli Aff.") ¶¶ 2-4, R. pp. 344-45.) Additionally she stated that to her knowledge she had never treated a patient who was not a South Carolina resident, her work did not require her to make phone calls across state lines or issue prescriptions for medications shipped across state lines, and that while other employees may have fulfilled the responsibilities of sending Medicare, Medicaid, or other insurance paperwork across state lines, she had no such responsibilities in connection with her job at the Hospital. (*Id.* at ¶ 8, R. pp. 345-46.)

The trial court filed its Order denying Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Dismiss or Stay on October 23, 2015. (Order of October 23, 2015 ("Order"), R.

pp. 1-11.) The Court held the FAA did not apply because the Contract was not a “contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce” under the language of the FAA. (*Id.*, R. pp. 4-8.) Specifically, the trial court found: Respondent’s work did not require her to perform actions or administer anything related to interstate commerce; all her work had been in South Carolina; the Contract had nothing to do with her move across state lines to South Carolina; and she was a South Carolina resident when she signed it. (*Id.*, R. pp. 6-8.) The trial court further held the FAA did not apply because *Flexon* was analytically analogous and constituted binding and controlling precedent for its decision. Noting that Appellants moved “only on the basis of the [FAA],” the court observed the Contract was unenforceable under the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act because it did not meet the notice requirements of that statute. (*Id.*, R. pp. 7-8.) Additionally, the court found the Contract was unenforceable because it lacked consideration, and that it was unconscionable because it contained oppressive, one-sided terms and Respondent had no meaningful choice when she signed it. (*Id.*, R. pp. 8-10.)

Appellants timely answered the Complaint, reserving their objections to the Court’s denial of the motion to compel arbitration. (Answer, R. pp. 20-27.) Immediately thereafter, Appellants timely filed and served their notice of appeal of the trial court’s order on November 9, 2015. (Notice of Appeal, R. p. 411.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Facts relating to employment relationship and patient complaint leading to the dispute.

On October 10, 2011, while attending orientation at the Hospital for her new job there, Respondent signed an agreement titled “Acknowledgement” (“Contract”). (Nester Aff., Ex. A, R. p. 48; Marzulli Aff. ¶ 3, R. pp. 80-81.) In that one-page document,

Respondent acknowledged receipt of, and agreed to use, Tenet's Fair Treatment Process ("FTP"). (Nester Aff., Ex. A., R. p. 48; Marzulli Aff. ¶ 3, R. pp. 80-81.) The FTP is a dispute resolution process that applies to Respondent and all other non-union employees of Tenet facilities and their affiliates. (Nester Aff., Ex. B – Fair Treatment Process, R. pp. 49-63.) The FTP consists of five steps that an employee generally must follow to resolve a problem at work. (*Id.*, R. pp. 51-54.) The fifth and final step of the FEP is "final and binding arbitration." (*Id.*, R. p. 54.)

In the Contract Respondent agreed "to submit to final and binding arbitration":

any and all claims and disputes that are related in any way to my employment or the termination of my employment with Tenet. I understand that final and binding arbitration will be the sole and exclusive remedy of any such claim or dispute against Tenet or its parent, subsidiary or affiliated companies or entities, and each of its and/or their employees, officers, directors or agents, and that, by agreeing to the use of arbitration to resolve my dispute, both the Company and I agree to forego any right we each may have had to a jury trial

(Nester Aff., Ex. A, R. p. 48; Marzulli Aff. ¶ 3, R. pp. 80-81.)

Respondent also agreed that "such arbitration . . . will be conducted under the Federal Arbitration Act and the procedural rules of the American Arbitration Association." (Nester Aff., Ex. A, R. p. 48; Marzulli Aff. ¶ 3, R. pp. 80-81.) The FTP referenced in the Contract and which she acknowledged receiving, expressly provided: "The Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1, *et seq.*, will govern arbitrations under the FTP." (Nester Aff., Ex. B at ¶ IV (B)(6)(a), R. p. 59.)

The Contract required the Hospital also to submit any of its claims and disputes to arbitration. (Nester Aff., Ex. A, R. p. 48; Marzulli Aff. ¶ 3, R. pp. 80-81.) Further, it imposed a maximum out-of-pocket cost of the arbitration to the employee of one day's pay or a mandated cap, if lower, and provided that Tenet would pay all other fees and

costs associated with the arbitration. (Nester Aff., Ex. A, R. p. 48; Marzulli Aff. ¶ 3, R. pp. 80-81.) Finally, the Contract provided that it could not be modified or rescinded except in writing by both the company and the employee. (Nester Aff., Ex. A, R. p. 48; Marzulli Aff. ¶ 3, R. pp. 80-81.)

On May 12, 2014, the father of a 9-year-old female patient telephoned the Rehabilitation Department where Respondent worked. (Propst Aff. ¶¶ 2-3, R. p. 68.) He told the department's office manager who answered the phone that his daughter had complained about Respondent. (Propst Aff. ¶¶ 4-13, R. pp. 68-69.) Specifically, his daughter told him that at their physical therapy session on May 5, 2014, Respondent held her in her lap in a way that made her uncomfortable, and that Respondent had pushed her and slapped her hand. (Propst Aff. ¶¶ 7, 13, R. p. 69.) The father said his daughter was also using the word "vagina" for the first time, and told him she learned the word from Respondent. (Propst Aff. ¶ 9, R. p. 69.) The office manager thereafter reported the father's complaint to the Hospital's Patient Safety Officer and Director of Risk Management. (Propst Aff. ¶ 18, R. 70; Gasiorowski Aff. ¶ 3, R. p. 34.) As required under S.C. CODE ANN. § 63-7-310,³ the Hospital's Patient Safety Officer and Director of

³ S.C. CODE ANN. § 63-7-310(A) requires certain persons, including "medical, emergency medical services, mental health, or allied health professional(s)," to report when they have received, in their professional capacity, information which gives them reason to believe that a child has been or may be abused or neglected as defined in South Carolina Code § 63-7-20. S.C. CODE ANN. § 63-7-310(A); *see also* S.C. CODE ANN. § 63-7-20(4) (defining abuse or neglect of a child as actions of "a parent, guardian, or other person responsible for the child's welfare"). If a person with a duty to report believes a "child's physical or mental health or welfare has been or may be adversely affected by acts or omissions that would be child abuse or neglect if committed by a parent, guardian, or other person responsible for the child's welfare, but the reporter believes that the act or omission was committed by a person other than the parent, guardian, or other person responsible for the child's welfare, the **reporter must make a report to the appropriate law enforcement agency.**" S.C. CODE ANN. § 63-7-310(B) (emphasis added).

Risk Management reported the father's complaint to the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department. (Gasiorowski Aff. ¶ 5, R. p. 35.) The Hospital also notified Respondent of the complaint and suspended her from all job duties pending completion of investigations by the Sheriff's Department and the Hospital. (Gasiorowski Aff. ¶ 8, R. p. 35; Nester Aff. ¶ 7, R. p. 45.)

During the Sheriff Department's investigation, the investigator told the Hospital's Patient Safety Officer and Director of Risk Management that the 9-year old patient made a number of other allegations against Respondent, including claims that Respondent fondled the child's breasts, that Respondent asked the child to touch her breasts, and that Respondent had pinched the child on her "butt." (Gasiorowski Aff. ¶ 9, R. p. 35.) The parents of the child also indicated they wanted to press criminal charges against Respondent. (Gasiorowski Aff. ¶ 10, R. p. 35.) After investigating the matter for approximately six weeks, on or about July 1, 2014, the Sheriff's Department dismissed the Complaint, reportedly because there was a lack of evidence to support criminal activity. (Gasiorowski Aff. ¶ 12, R. p. 36.)

During the six-week period that Respondent was suspended, the Hospital also conducted its own investigation. (Hyde Aff. ¶ 6, R. p. 38.) In the course of examining Respondent's patient records during that process, the Hospital discovered significant

Respondent contends the Hospital was not "required" to report the allegation of child abuse because the complaint was not received "in a professional capacity" by a "medical services, mental health, or allied health professional" with a duty to report it. Instead, Respondent argues, because the complaint was made to the Rehabilitation Department's office manager, who in turn reported it to the Hospital's Patient Safety Officer and Director of Risk Management, and because, Respondent argues, neither of them is a "medical services, mental health, or allied health professional," a report to a law enforcement agency was not mandatory under the statute. (Mem. Opp'n, R. p. 74.)

inadequacies and gaps in Respondent's documentation. The Hospital had previously counseled Respondent about this same deficiency in her job performance.⁴ (Hyde Aff. ¶¶ 7-8, R. p. 38.)

After both investigations were completed and no charges were filed, the Hospital notified Respondent that it would reinstate her to her position. (Hyde Aff. ¶ 10, R. p. 38.) It paid her for the period she had been suspended. (Hyde Aff. ¶ 10, R. p. 38; Nester Aff. ¶ 9, R. p. 45.) The Hospital also gave her a copy of a Performance Improvement Plan ("PIP") that her supervisor had prepared to address the deficiencies in her recordkeeping that the Hospital had discovered during its review of the records of Respondent's physical therapy sessions with the child. (Hyde Aff. ¶ 11, R. pp. 38-39; Hyde Aff., Ex. A – Record of Conference, R. p. 41.) Respondent accepted the back pay the Hospital offered, but refused to acknowledge receipt of the PIP; she also declined the Hospital's offer of reinstatement, writing her supervisor that "Tenet's actions force me to not return to work for them." (Hyde Aff., Ex. B – Email of Resignation, R. p. 43.)

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