THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAY 26 2016

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

SC Court of Appeals

Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-07-2779

Appellate Case No. 2015-002363

Mary Beth Marzulli, Respondent,

v.

Tenet South Carolina, Inc., Hilton Head Health System,
LP d/b/a Hilton Head Regional Medical Center, and
Tenet Physician Services-Hilton Head, Inc., Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DeAntonio Law Firm, LLC
Stephen F. DeAntonio, Esquire
Post Office Box 30069
Charleston, SC 29417-0069
(843) 577-8080

Finger Melnick & Brooks, P.A.
Benjamin T. Shelton, Esquire
35 Hospital Center Common Suite 200

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellants’ contention in their Issue I was not raised in the trial court and therefore is not a properly preserved issue.

Appellants contend the mere statement in the “Acknowledgement” that “arbitration will be conducted under the Federal Arbitration Act” automatically compels arbitration. However,

this issue, distinct from the traditional and established methodology used to analyze arbitrability, was raised neither in the pleadings stage nor at the trial court proceedings.

Generally, claims or defenses not presented in the pleadings will not be considered on appeal. *See McNeely v. South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 259 S.C. 39, 190 S.E. 2d 499 (1972).

The briefing and transcript are devoid of this triggering rule being presented below. As such, the issue was not raised and ruled upon by the trial court. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E. 2d 731 (1998); *Smith v. Phillips*, 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E. 427 (1995). Additionally, there is no allegation the trial court failed to rule on the issue as no S.C.R.C.P. 59 was filed. *See, Wilder*, supra.

- A. Even if the Appellant's Issue I is properly before the court the argument lacks any merit as ruling in the Appellant's favor would effectively overrule and eviscerate the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act as well as other statutes which constitute public policy of this State as established by the South Carolina legislature.**

In their argument, the Appellants seek a backdoor around the mandatory notice requirements of the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10, et seq. (1976) (as amended) (hereinafter "SCUAA"). If parties must arbitrate under the FAA when they "said they would"—even if interstate commerce is not involved—the SCUAA would be effectively overruled and eviscerated.⁶ Pursuant to § 15-48-10(A) of the SCUAA, "Notice that a contract is subject to arbitration pursuant to this chapter shall be typed in underlined capital letters, or rubber-stamped prominently, on the first page of the contract and unless such notice is

⁶ "A written agreement to submit any existing controversy to arbitration or a provision in a written contract to submit to arbitration any controversy thereafter arising between the parties is valid, enforceable and irrevocable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." § 15-48-10(A)

displayed thereon the contract shall not be subject to arbitration.” Under the Appellant’s argument in Appellant’s Issue I, the notice requirements of § 15-48-10(A) would have no effect or force. Indeed, the *Acknowledgement* at issue here **did not** contain underlined capital letters or prominently bold stamped letters on its first page stating that it was subject to the SCUAA. (“Acknowledgement,” R. p. 48.).

Ruling for the Appellants on this issue also would eviscerate all effect of the SCUAA’s prohibition upon arbitration agreements being made a condition of employment. *See* § 15-48-10(b)(2) (“An agreement to apply this chapter [the SCUAA] shall not be made a condition of employment”). Notably, the *Acknowledgement* **was** made a condition of Ms. Marzulli’s employment. (Marzulli Aff. R. p. 81).⁷

II. The evidence reasonably supports the judge’s findings that the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) did not apply, meaning there wasn’t a transaction involving interstate commerce.

Both federal and state policy favors arbitrating disputes. *Heffner v. Destiny, Inc.*, 321 S.C. 536, 471 S.E.2d 135 (1995) (“The policy of the United States and this State is to favor arbitration of disputes.”). Despite this expansive interpretation of the FAA, the FAA does not reflect a congressional intent to occupy the entire field of arbitration. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Associates*, 346 S.C. 580, 553 S.E. 2d 110 (2001), (citing *Volt Inf. Scis. Inc. v. Board of Trs.*, 489 U.S. 468, 109 S.Ct. 1248, 103 L.Ed.2d. 488 (1989)).

⁷ Following Appellants’ logic, other statutes enacted by the legislature could be effectively eviscerated should the court adopt a rule as is raised in Issue I. For example, by extension, companies issuing automobile insurance policies could force their insureds to arbitrate uninsured motorist claims in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-200 simply by stating that “any claim against an uninsured motorist arising under this policy of insurance is subject to valid, binding arbitration under the FAA.”

“[The FAA] simply requires courts to enforce privately negotiated agreements to arbitrate, like other contracts, in accordance with their terms.” *Volt*, at 478, 109 S.Ct. at 1255. While the federal policy favoring arbitration as expressed in the Federal Arbitration Act is now binding in state courts and supersedes inconsistent state law, the act nonetheless requires *a contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce* to settle a controversy by arbitration. *Zabinski*, *supra*, citing *Allied-Bruce Terminix Co. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 115 S.Ct. 834, 130 L.Ed.2d 753 (1995). For the FAA to apply, an agreement must “evidenc[e] a transaction involving commerce,” specifically interstate commerce. 9 U.S.C. § 2 (1999). Essentially, three factors are analyzed: (1) whether the FAA applies, (2) whether the parties formed a valid and binding arbitration agreement, and (3) whether the agreement covers the Respondent’s claim. *See Towles v. United Healthcare Corporation*, 338 S.C. 29, 524 S.E. 2d 839 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999). Contrary to the Appellants’ misplaced contention that the trial judge “focused solely on the individual employment contract,” the trial judge analyzed the matter consistent with the factors espoused in *Towles*.

A. Ms. Marzulli’s work did not require her to perform actions related to interstate commerce.

Mrs. Marzulli was a South Carolina resident and her employment as a physical therapist consisted of her treating local patients at a local hospital by providing them with one-on-one, hands-on physical therapy services. The Appellants would essentially request the Court to rule that *all* employment in the health care field involves interstate commerce because hospitals invariably draw products and drugs from around the country and internationally. Under this theory, a South Carolina History teacher, schooling state pupils in the Palmetto state, would be engaged in interstate commerce when the teacher used a blackboard and chalk manufactured

outside of the state's lines. If this were the rule, virtually every type of work would trigger the commerce clause.

Importantly, the Appellants' position on this issue is without support of the jurisprudence of South Carolina. Further, it is in direct contradiction with the analysis contained in *Flexon v. PHC* ("*Flexon I*"), and by extension *Flexon II*.

In determining whether a transaction is inside or outside of the scope of the FAA, the court determines "whether *the contract* require[s] [a party] to administer anything related to interstate commerce." *Thornton v. Trident Medical Center, LLC*, 357 S.C. 91, 96, 592 S.E.2d 50 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *Mathews v. Fluor Corp.*, 312 S.C. 404, 407, 440 SE2d 880, 882 (2001))(emphasis added). Pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, "A written provision in any *contract* evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration *a controversy thereafter arising out of such []contract* . . . shall be valid, irrevocable and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract. 9 U.S.C. § 2 (2009) (emphasis added). Courts must "focus upon what the terms of *the contract* specifically require for performance in determining whether interstate commerce is involved. Our courts consistently look to the essential character of *the contract* when applying the FAA." *Thornton v. Trident Medical Center, LLC*, 357 S.C. 91, 96, 592 S.E.2d 50 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003) (emphasis added). "General contract principles of state law apply in a court's evaluation of the enforceability of an arbitration clause." *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 24, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007).

Compare the *Acknowledgement* signed by Ms. Marzulli to the recruiting agreement and employment contract signed by the Plaintiff in *Thornton*. In *Thornton* the Court looked to what the contract between the parties required the parties to *perform*. The Court noted in *Thornton*

that the entire contract that was subject to the arbitration provision “was denominated as and was intended as a recruiting agreement to induce Thornton’s move across state lines.” *Thornton*, 357 S.C. at 98. Indeed, in *Thornton* “[t]he express purpose of the recruiting agreement was to provide a monetary incentive, consisting of multiple related promises, to induce Thornton to relocate his professional medical services practice from Michigan to South Carolina.” *Id.* Again, the entire agreement in *Thornton*, the recruiting agreement and contract for employment which was part and parcel to it, was the *contract* that the court interpreted.

Here, the only purported contract for the Court to consider is the *Acknowledgement*. The terms of the *Acknowledgement* have nothing to do with Mrs. Marzulli’s move to South Carolina which occurred over one month before she signed the *Acknowledgement*. Ms. Marzulli was an at-will employee and had no employment contract with the Defendants. Paragraph four of the *Acknowledgement*, beginning on the final word of line two, states in small single spaced nondescript font, “I hereby voluntarily agree to use the Company’s Fair Treatment Process and to submit to final and binding arbitration of any and all claims and disputes that are related in any way to my employment or the termination of my employment with Tenet.”

She signed the *Acknowledgement* while already a South Carolina resident.

Also compare the nature of Mrs. Marzulli’s work to the work of the Plaintiff in *Towles v. United Healthcare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 524 S.E.2d 839 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999). In that case, the Plaintiff was required to attend out-of-state conferences, participated in conferences with the Defendant’s office in Minnesota, reviewed claims from out-of-state providers and specialty providers located in North Carolina and Georgia, and participated in sales presentations in South Carolina and Georgia, and, reviewed proposals from out-of-state medical and ancillary service providers. The court found those activities provided “sufficient evidence to invoke the FAA.”

Here, Ms. Marzulli's work had no similar requirements. She was a local physical therapist providing physical therapy services to local patients at a local facility.

South Carolina jurisprudence is dispositive to the issue. *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 399 S.C. 83, 731 S.E.2d 1 (S.C. Ct. App. 2012), a 2012 Court of Appeals decision, dictates that the order be affirmed. On the facts before the Court at that time, Flexon was a South Carolina resident licensed to practice medicine as a physician. He was to practice at sites in Jasper County. There was an arbitration agreement contained within his employment agreement. The trial court found the employment agreement called for local medical services to be performed at a medical facility in Hardeeville, and as such denied the motion to compel arbitration since it didn't involve interstate commerce. *See Flexon, supra*.

Flexon is analytically analogous to the present case before the Court. Here, the Respondent was a South Carolina resident when she signed the purported agreement. The Respondent provided physical therapy services exclusively in South Carolina. She did not travel out of state as a requirement of her work. (By contradistinction, *see Lucey v. Meyer*, 201 S.C.C 122, 736 S.E.2d 274 (Ct. App. 2012), in which employment *contract* detailed at least one specific matter which *required* out of state travel, triggering the commerce clause. Ms. Marzulli never was required to travel out of state for her employment and she had no employment contract. Instead, here, the only alleged contract at issue is the *Acknowledgement* itself.)

Flexon resurfaced to the Court of Appeals and a different panel ruled again in favor of the physician, much because of a law of the case issue. *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 766 S.E.2d 397 (Ct. App. 2015) ("*Flexon II*"). Thus, this case is binding and controlling jurisprudence, and disposes of this appeal.

Of manifest import here, the *Flexon I* Court distinguished *Thornton* from *Arkansas Diagnostic Center, P.A. v. Tahiri*, 370 Ark. 157, 257 S.W.3d 884, 892 (2007). *Flexon I*, 399 S.C. at 88-89, 731 S.E.2d at 3-4. The Court examined the analysis in *Tahiri* extensively and quoted three paragraphs found in *Tahiri* verbatim. *Id.*

The facts in *Tahiri* nearly mirror the facts here. And, the arguments by the Defendants in *Tahiri* are virtually identical to the arguments of the Appellants here. The *Tahiri* court rejected these arguments. For example, the *Flexon I* court notes that in *Tahiri*, the Defendants argued that “interstate commerce was involved because there was ‘evidence to show that it treated out-of-state patients, received payments from out-of-state insurance carriers, purchased goods from out-of-state vendors, and paid for Dr. Tahiri to travel to seminars outside of Arkansas.’ The Arkansas Supreme Court found these factors alone insufficient to compel arbitration under the FAA.” *Flexon I*, 399 S.C. 88, 731 S.E.2d 3-4 (quoting *Tahiri*, 370 S.W.3d 884, 888). Just as Hilton Head Hospital is a local hospital which markets itself as part and parcel to the local community, the Defendant in *Tahiri* was a “ ‘local clinic, with local physicians who had privileges at local hospitals and treated local patients.’ ” *Id.* at 89, at 4. (quoting *Tahiri*). *Flexon I* also quoted the *Tahiri* court’s holding that the Defendant medical clinic in *Tahiri* “failed to prove that [the Plaintiff’s] employment facilitated [the medical clinic’s] alleged interstate business activities.... Most specific to the employment contract at issue [in *Tahiri*] is that [the Defendant] contracted with Dr. Tahiri to provide medical services to its *local* patients.” *Id.* (quoting *Tahiri* at 892 (emphasis in original)). Just as the physician in *Tahiri* was a physician providing services to local patients, here, the Respondent was an at-will employee hired to provide physical therapy *services* to special needs, local patients, who knew the families of the patients she treated personally. (Marzulli Aff, R. p. 80), (Third Marzulli Aff Aff., R. p. 345)

Based on these factors, the Court in *Tahiri* held that the physicians *employment agreement* “ ‘did not evidence a transaction involving commerce.’ ” *Flexon I*, at 89 at 4 (quoting *Tahiri* at 892).

The *Tahiri* court concluded its holding, stating:

Were this court to hold otherwise, it would equate to a finding that the FAA is applicable to any contract containing an arbitration clause, as it could be argued that every contract involves some nexus to interstate commerce.... Instead, the question is simply whether the *contract* evidences a *transaction* involving commerce.

Flexon I, 399 S.C. at 89, 731 S.E.2d at 4 (quoting *Tahiri*, at 892 (emphasis in original)).

Here, the Appellants arguments are identical to the arguments made by the Defendant in *Tahiri* which the *Tahiri* court rejected. Truly, if the *Acknowledgement* required the Respondent here who was employed at will to perform acts which evidence a transaction involving interstate commerce, it would be nearly impossible to imagine any employment which did not involve interstate commerce. The Court’s review of the terms of the “*Acknowledgement*” should result in determining *it* does not require the Respondent to administer anything related to interstate commerce.

Further, this is supported by the underlying facts, and the trial courts’ factual findings are reasonable. *See Thornton, supra*. Here, the “*contract*” that the Court examines is the “*Acknowledgement*.” No other contemporaneous or subsequent contract exists. The FAA only requires arbitration of “*a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract*,” not controversies or acts arising before the contract was entered into. 9 U.S.C. § 2 (2009).

The Respondent was a South Carolina resident, and had already begun working, when she was required to sign the *Acknowledgement* at orientation. She had established permanent residency in South Carolina no later than approximately one month before signing the alleged contract at issue. No arbitration agreement existed within her previous agreement to be partially

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